

Northland Pioneer College

STRONG MINDS. STRONG COMMUNITIES.

FACULTY HANDBOOK FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF STUDENT ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

JANUARY 2004

This manual was developed to aid their colleagues in the measurement of student learning outcomes by the members of the NPC Committee for the Assessment of Student Academic Achievement (CASAA): Eli Blake, Claude S. Endfield, Heidi Fulcher (Chair), Sandy Haggard, Janet Hunter, Suzanne Beckham O'Hop and Chuck Kermes.

PUBLIC NOTICE OF NONDISCRIMINATION: The College does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, religion, marital status, gender, age or disability in admission or access to, or treatment or employment in its educational programs or activities. District grievance procedures will be followed for compliance with Title IX and Section 504 requirements. The Affirmative Action Compliance Officer is the Director of Human Resources, 103 First Avenue at Hopi Drive, Holbrook, Arizona 86025, 1.800.266.7845. The Section 504 Compliance Officer is the Coordinator of Disability Resources and Access, 1001 W. Deuce of Clubs, Show Low, Arizona 85901, 1.800.266.7845. The lack of English language skills will not be a barrier to admission and participation in vocational education programs.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

NPC Faculty Handbook for the Assessment of Student Academic Achievement

I.	Introduction
II.	History and Development of Assessment at NPC
	Through February 1999
	Improved Teaching and Learning
	Conclusion
III.	Department Plan for Assessment
	, Department Plan for Assessment Table
	Cycle of Assessment Chart
IV.	Five Levels of Assessment Activity 10
	General Examples 10
	Samples of Activity Levels From Several Departments 11
	Sample Activity Levels From One Department 12
V.	Types of Assessment Opportunities
	Formative Assessment 16
	Summative Assessment 17
VI.	Assessment of Student Academic Achievement Report 18
VII.	Glossary of Assessment Terms
VIII.	Library Resources and Bibliography

I. INTRODUCTION

This guide is offered to assist NPC faculty in classroom related assessment of their students. Assessment is sometimes confused with institutional effectiveness, of which it is a component part. Institutional effectiveness encompasses student learning as well as college finance, productivity and community development. Academic assessment is oriented solely to improvement of the learning and teaching processes at the college and is not related to the faculty evaluation system.

The college places value on assessment as part of its institutional effectiveness and North Central accreditation processes. More important is our shared vision of being learner-centered, which underpins our continued efforts at development of useful measures of student learning. This handbook and the current college assessment process are based on the following assumptions:

- A. Education goes beyond knowing to being able to demonstrate knowledge.
- B. Educators are responsible for facilitating learning by articulating class outcomes and criteria for successful performance.
- C. Outcomes involve generic abilities, not specific tasks.
- D. Abilities can be developed.
- E. Competencies can be assessed.
- *F. In order to be a lifelong learner, one must be able to evaluate one's own work.

NPC faculty members were recognized by the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools during their November 1999 accreditation visit for their willingness to develop and maintain a system of student assessment. The current program at NPC is noteworthy due to the number and variety of measures developed in-house by faculty as part of an ongoing and focused process.

We hope that this publication will be useful as a resource to faculty in their continued efforts at assessing student learning outcomes.

II. HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF ASSESSMENT AT NPC

The development of a plan to assess student outcomes was undertaken in 1994 by faculty at the College. A committee was formed to oversee the process and help develop an overall plan for the various sub-groups. Make-up of the committee consisted of faculty representatives of the instructional divisions and academic administrators.

After the initial planning, faculty in the various departments and occupational programs were actively involved in work sessions to identify measurable outcomes related to Northland's Mission and to develop valid instruments to assess student learning. Through the process of department and division faculty meetings, an institution-wide plan was developed.

In May of 1995, Northland submitted the faculty-approved plan for the Assessment of Student Academic Achievement to NCA. This plan was approved by NCA in September of 1995.

During the first year of implementation, several of the cluster areas found that changes needed to be made in the instruments developed for assessing each of the outcomes tied to their respective areas. Through faculty discussions, the plan has become an evolving process in which faculty are actively developing analytical methods to measure what the student is learning and ultimately make changes in curriculum related to teaching and learning strategies. Changes made by several of the cluster areas have contributed to increased validity of the instruments and data collected. The following summary outlines some of the faculty findings and strategies for change in departmental assessment processes.

Summary of Progress for 1997-1998 Through February 1999

Institutional Progress Reports, by education mission category, are compiled annually from department annual assessment reports and evaluated with respect to the degree of implementation of assessment of program outcome goals based on an Activity Scale of I to V. Activity levels were defined as follows:

s

Two areas, Mathematics and Social and Behavioral Sciences were in the Level V activity range for their outcome areas in 1996-1997. The General Education areas of Composition and Arts/Humanities achieved the Level IV activity and the Physical and Biological Sciences attained Level H activity.

In 1997-1998, four of the five (80%) General Education areas (Composition, Mathematics, Arts and Humanities, and Social and Behavioral Sciences) were in the Level V activity range for their outcome areas. Social and Behavioral Sciences developed a related program completer opinion survey that was given to a random selection of students within that area. One of the five (20%) General Education areas, Physical and Biological Sciences, attained the Level IV activity range.

Selected Examples of How Assessment Has Improved Teaching and Learning

Analysis of the data and reports submitted for 1997-1998 through February 1999 demonstrates departments/ cluster areas are using the information gained from assessment to improve student learning and increase retention.

A. Composition

Assessment activities revealed that composition students are experiencing common problems. Recommendations to improve student learning included:

- 1. Strengthen instruction to provide a clear differentiation between plot summaries and analysis.
- 2. Specifically address the use of textual evidence to support ideas.
- 3. Change texts to provide more interesting material for students to use in their writing assignments.
- 4. Investigate and possibly strengthen controls in the concurrent enrollment program.
- 5. Strengthen the assessment process for the composition area. (Several specific suggestions were included.)

B. Math

- 1. Revise the standardized examinations for Introductory Algebra (MAT 109) and Intermediate Algebra (MAT 112) and establish consistent scoring guidelines, share teaching strategies that work best, exercise more control in placement and course enrollment patterns, and offer more stand-alone classes.
- 2. Provide more student curriculum support services such as: testing centers, open tutoring labs, calculator use workshops, one-on-one communication channels for distance learning students, and improved visual presentations for distance learning classes.
- 3. Solicit feedback from customers, such as faculty from General Education areas and career preparation areas, to confirm that students have or have not gained skills needed to succeed in those areas.
- C. Arts and Humanities
 - 1. Place more emphasis inside the classroom on how materials studied related to the society from which they come and our society today.
 - 2. Change Art History textbook to address student comprehension problems in reading material.
- D. Social and Behavioral Sciences
 - 1. Resident faculty will gather additional data and information related to the nature and teaching of critical writing/thinking skills and share this collection with associate faculty.
 - 2. Restructure the survey instrument used to assess effectiveness/learning in the area of racial, ethnic, and gender issues. Data analysis indicated that improvement in the learning approaches is needed in these curriculum areas.

E. Physical and Biological Sciences

- 1. All faculty should use consistent reporting formats for the assessment of final examinations and technical and scientific written lab reports.
- 2. Resident faculty need more interaction with associate faculty to discuss the future direction and needs of the physical and biological sciences.

Conclusion

Northland has a clearly defined and coherent General Education program that is consistent with its Mission and Purposes and with the standards and expectations of Arizona's Academic Program Articulation Steering Committee (APASC). It is designed to ensure that students attain fundamental skills, familiarity with the various branches of knowledge associated with higher Education, and practice in disciplined, independent thinking. Faculty have consistently taken a leadership role in the development and assessment of the General Education program and the assessment of student outcomes and are using the information gained from assessment to improve student learning and increase student retention.

III. DEPARTMENT PLAN FOR ASSESSMENT

The principles of student assessment and use of assessment feedback for improving student academic achievement is an integral part of the college mission. Assessment of student academic achievement is measured across all six academic mission areas in order to match instructional resources to student need and to provide accountability to all stakeholder groups. Our six educational purposes include:

- 1. General Education To foster the intellectual inquiry and breadth of knowledge as well as the skills inherent in general education.
- 2. Degree/Certificate achievement and Transfer Preparation To facilitate student achievement of Associate degrees, Certificates, and/or successful transfer to Baccalaureate programs.
- 3. Employability To promote the development of occupational skills.
- 4. Personal Enrichment To encourage an awareness and appreciation of social, cultural, intellectual and artistic endeavors, as well as individual development and cultural diversity.
- 5. Developmental Education -To facilitate student success through development of skills essential for effective learning.
- 6. Economic Development (Customized Education) To contribute to economic development through community programs and activities.

The chart that follows describes assessment activities and processes carried out at NPC.

Outcomes	Measures/ Data Sources	Population Assessed	Who Initiates/ Administers Assessment	Who Sets/Provides Analysis to Standards	Accumulated Data/Storage	Timetable	Use of Data	Who Receives Results/Data
What is the desired student learning outcome for the course/ department?	Measures used, such as final essays, projects, portfolios.	All students enrolled in catalog listed courses for AA, AS, ABUS, AAS, AGS degree requirement- filling courses.	Depai_ment Faculty and Division Dean. Typically "Assessment Day" is held in mid-February, using the previous fall semester student data.	Division Dean with Faculty Panel to review student work based on course outlines and agreed upon rubrics, achievement levels, portfolio results, etc.	Faculty and Division Deans maintain data for their use. Deans submit Assessment Reports to the Vice President for Instruction by May 15 th . Data from all departments is compiled for use as a college-wide information source.	It is recom- mended that Assessment Day be in mid- February, using data from the previous fall semester. Submission of Department Assessment report to Instructional Support by the end of spring semester, college-wide report developed by Instructional Support available the following fall semester, validation that outcome is actually being achieved.	Ideas on course/ policy/ procedure revisions for outcome improvement. Historical awareness of changes over time in quality of outcome.	Division Deans, Department Faculty, V.P. of Instructional Services, Information Services, Instructional Research Office, requesting instructional dependent program administrators, stake holders requesting regulatory agencies and others having a "need to know".

Department Plan for Assessment Table

Northland Pioneer College **TWO YEAR CYCLE OF ASSESSMENT**



IV. FIVE LEVELS OF ASSESSMENT ACTIVITY

General Examples

The levels of activity that follow are listed in descending order of desirability, level one being the beginning level, level five being the target level of activity. It is assumed that as the department acquires each level of activity, the preceding activities are maintained, thus a department at level five maintains levels one through five.

Level I _ '' Department assessment processes have been detailed and developed for use by faculty''.

Instruments and measures are developed by the department, including grading rubrics and instructions for faculty and students. Instruments can include "double-dipping" types of measures such as the use of fmal class projects or compositions, which can be used in conjunction with departmental grading rubrics.

Level II __ "Data collection has been implemented".

Instruments and measures agreed upon by the department are collected and graded. Included are copies of grading rubrics, if used, analysis of test questions, and overall faculty findings and recommendations.

Level III __ ''Data analyzed by department Leaders/Dean''.

Department Faculty, Leaders and Dean review and analyze assessment results in view of departmental and course objectives. Implications of assessment results are considered in relation to department and course objectives: were objectives achieved or not and why? Other important questions to ask may be: are course modifications needed to improve student learning and are instruments used appropriate measures for student learning?

<u>Level IV</u> — <u>"Faculty. Instructional Leaders and Deans have used the data to improve Student</u> <u>Academic Achievement".</u>

Review and use of data analysis leads to modifications to student course enrollment requirements, curriculum, teaching methods, revision of study guides or exams. Changes and improvements in data gathering techniques, grading rubrics and data analysis can also be derived from level IV activities.

Level V __ ''Use of data to improve the assessment process''.

Review and use of data analysis leads to improvements and streamlining the assessment process. Generally methods to simplify and make the process more powerful are found through this process.

Samples of Activity Levels From Several Departments

The following examples of assessment activities are from different departments within the college and may be useful in the development or modification of departmental assessment techniques. The samples that follow are not an exhaustive listing of all techniques used at the college, but are cited as representative of each level of assessment practice.

Level I: Department assessment processes have been detailed and developed for use by faculty.

The Natural Sciences faculty has determined that during each spring semester, faculty members will select random samples of student final examinations from **Biology**, **Chemistry**, and **Geology** from the preceding fall semester. Faculty members will convene to discuss random sample final exams, student laboratory work samples and related pre- and post-test samples of student work. Four random samples from each full-time and associate faculty member will be reviewed for retention of course content (application of scientific methods, intensive writing and critical thinking and race/gender ethnic awareness) at a level of "C" or better.

Level II: Data collection activity has been implemented.

Social and Behavioral science faculty determined that student outcomes would be measured by student understanding of: the scientific method/critical thinking, intensive writing/critical inquiry and global, historical and international awareness. Measurement along these continuums is achieved through the use of randomly selected final papers from **sociology, history, psychology, geography, political Science, philoso-phy and anthropology.** The papers were reviewed by a department faculty committee, and rated for levels of understanding of the three sets of concepts noted above. The level of race, ethnic and gender awareness of students is also an area of importance for the social and behavioral sciences. Data collection in this area has been through the use of faculty developed student self-rating survey for race, ethnic and gender awareness.

Level III: Faculty, instructional leaders and deans have analyzed the data.

The nursing program faculty, director and division dean identified a national nursing assessment test that is given to 4th semester graduating students prior to graduation and students taking their state board exams. The results of this "dry run" assessment provide needed information on individual student performance and possible remediation needs. It is also beneficial for faculty to review and tune curriculum in areas where a number of students have problems in a single given curriculum area.

Level IV: Use of data by faculty, instructional leaders and deans to improve student academic achievement.

While completing last year's assessment of ENL 101 and ENL 102 "stand-alone" students, English department faculty identified concerns related to the achievement of students taking ENL 101 and ENL 102 over the video system. "There is some sense that teaching writing by way of distance learning is not a particularly successful method". Data acquired through assessment activity will help determine if changes need to be made in teaching writing via distance learning.

Level V: Use of data to improve the assessment process.

Math department faculty identified random samples of student MAT 109 and MAT 112 final examinations in order to assess student competency in each course. The examination questions were then matched to the corresponding learning objectives outlined in student study guides and the master course outline (3035) to ensure that the questions adequately measured student learning.

The team found that the examinations were providing a good measure of student achievement, but that for MAT 109, application problems could be more evenly distributed through the exam rather than occurring at the end of the exam. In addition, the group found that some test items did not have corresponding objectives in the study guide, or that the objective was not specifically enunciated in the guide. These findings were used to modify examinations and study guides to optimize the assessment of student learning.

Sample Activity Levels From One Department.

During their fall 1999 accreditation visit, NCA Consulting Evaluators identified locally developed summative instruments and methods used at NPC as a strong point for the college. These methods were developed by faculty to provide summative data on student achievement and are a credit to the faculty and departments at the college. The following is an assessment from the English department, which may be replicated by other departments. The example identifies activity levels I through V.

Level I Activity: Department assessment processes have been detailed and developed for use by faculty.

The English Department: Completed summative assessments on 30% of students completing ENL 101 and 30% of students completing ENL 102. The assessments consisted of end of semester essays on topics selected by the students. Instructions to students include desired performance standards including development and support of thesis statement, number of words required and the following items:

What are we looking for?

Your instructor will award a score that reflects an overall judgement of your writing abilities. He/She will consider and evaluate the following aspects of your writing:

Thesis:		1	2	3	4	5		
		F	D	С	В	А		
•	Does your Does this th	essay h nesis ef	ave a cle fectively	early foct	used ma ne paper	in idea an 's organiz	wering the question posed ation?	l by the exam?
Summariz	ing:	1	2	3	4	5		
C C		F	D	С	В	А		
•	Can you ac passage?	curatel	y and eff	fectively	summa	rize the m	ain points and supporting o	letails of the
Developm	ent:	1	2	3	4	5		
Ĩ		F	D	С	В	А		
•	Do the bod amples, illu	y parag Istration	raphs gins, and d	ve clear	reasons n?	to accept	your thesis and include app	propriate ex-
Organizat	ion:	1	2	3	4	5		
U		F	D	С	В	А		
•	Is the paper topic senter	r effection effe	ively par d transiti	agraphe ons?	d to pres	sent a reas	onable sequence of ideas,	with effective
Expressio	n:	1	2	3	4	5		
•		F	D	С	В	А		
•	Are the ide audience?	as expr	essed cle	early and	l effectiv	vely in wa	ys that are appropriate for	a college-level

Mechanics.	1	2	3	4	5
	F	D	С	В	А

• Do spelling, punctuation, and grammar reflect standards of written English?

Total:_____

27 - 30 = A 24 - 26 = 21 - 25 = C 18 - 20 = D17 and below = F

Level II Activity: Data Collection has been implemented.

Final papers were used to determine student final class grade as well as assist the department in assessing student learning outcomes for the two courses. The essays were randomly selected from each class and compared to a master grading rubric which identifies 5 levels of student performance on the essay: five being the strongest performance, one being the weakest. The rubric, which follows was also shared with the students to insure that they had a clear understanding of what was being asked of them. Assessment results were distributed to all full-time and associate faculty members.

NORTHLAND PIONEER COLLEGE WRITING ASSESSMENT SCORING RUBRIC

ENGLISH DEPARTMENT

ACCEPTABLE:

- 5 The writing contains a strong, clear controlling idea specifically addressing the prompt; reveals complexity, variety, and/or freshness; has a beginning, middle, and end; progresses logically; uses smooth cohesive devices (transitions, repetition, pronouns, parallelism); makes a distinction between main and subordinate ideas by using specific details/examples; contains language that is consistently precise and vivid, perhaps even sophisticated; uses clear sentences which vary in structure with no or few grammatical/mechanical errors.
- 4 The writing contains a clear controlling idea specifically addressing the prompt; reveals some complexity, variety, and/or freshness; has a beginning, middle, and end; generally progresses in a logical manner; uses cohesive devices; makes a distinction between main and subordinate ideas by using some details/examples; contains language that is usually precise and vivid; uses clear sentences which very in structure with a few grammatical/mechanical errors.
- 3 The writing contains a competent controlling idea with a sense of direction adequately addressing the prompt; has evidence of a beginning, middle, and end; uses some cohesive devices, mostly mechanical; may use some specific details/examples but more general statements in support of main and subordinate ideas; contains language that is inconsistent or uneven; contains clear sentences lacking variety with some grammatical/mechanical errors.

UNACCEPTABLE:

- 2 The writing contains one or more ideas that address the prompt but none that adequately control direction or development; lacks cohesion but has some evidence of beginning, middle, or end; may tend toward a simple listing of ideas; contains unclear sentences with repeated, distracting sentence structure, language or grammatical/mechanical errors.
- 1 The writing lacks a controlling idea or only momentarily addresses the prompt; lacks a sense of organization and/or development; digresses and is difficult to follow; contains confusing and serious sentence structure, language, or grammatical/mechanical errors.

Level III Activity: Data analyzed by department leaders/dean.

The assessment data was reviewed by department members and revealed several questions related to student learning and outcomes. These include the awareness that a large number of high school students enrolled in ENL 101/102 as concurrent enrollment were scoring higher on departmental assessments than regularly enrolled students. After analysis, it was concluded that the concurrent enrollment students were taking the classes as "advanced placement" options prior to enrolling at four-year institutions and were generally taking the class five days per week. The regularly enrolled students were not advanced placement students, and were typically attending NPC prior to transfer to senior institutions, but were in need of remedial work. In addition, regularly enrolled students typically attend one class session per week. Many of the regular enrollees are also occupational students who may not hold academic course offerings as their top priority.

Through analysis of the data, what appeared initially to be a potentially serious problem for the department had a reasonable and understandable explanation.

The department also found that it would help students if prompts for ENL 101 and 102 final exams were modified. The department looked at using more general prompts, which were not tied to the "Riverside text" in use at the time. This would allow for better data gathering over time and textbook changes in order to provide a clearer look at teaching/learning outcomes which were not clouded by the medium of textbook/ Internet availability and other resource issues.

Lev I IV Acti *tv: Facul instructional leade s and deans have sed the data to im t rove stude t academic achievement

The department used their findings to identify the need to review the effectiveness of video ENL 101 and 102 classes. This question arose in relation to disparities found in the concurrent ENL 101 and 102, which were discussed above.

Weaknesses in ENL 101 papers were identified as a departmental focus area based on assessment results. The primary concern was related to lack of detail in writing, and student difficulty with the mechanics of writing. The department members were able to reemphasize these items in curriculum and on a class-to-class basis to better assist students.

An Assessment Bibliography

General Discussions

American Association of Colleges and Universities. *Greater Expectations: A New Vision for Learning Project.* Available online. <u>http://www.aacti.or</u>€

. Our Students' Best Work. (2004).

- Angelo, T.A. Doing assessment as if learning matters most. (1999). AAHE Bulletin, May 1999.
- Astin, A.W. (1993). A ssessment for Excellence: The Philosophy and Practice of A ssessment and Evaluation in Higher Education. Phoenix, AZ: Oryx.
- Astin, A.W., Banta, T.W. *et al.* (2003). 9 Principles of Good Practice for Assessing Student Learning. Available online. <u>http://www.aahe.oro,assessment/principl.ht</u>
- Banta, T.W. & Associates. (1993). Making a Difference. San Francisco, CA.

Brakke, D.F. & Brown, D.T. (2002). Assessment to improve student learning. *New Directions for Higher Education*, 119, 119-122.

Diamond, R.M. (2002). Field guide to academic leadership: A publication of the National Academy for Academic Leadership. Indianapolis, IN: Jossey-Bass.

- Erwin, T.D. (2003). The ABC's of assessment. Trusteeship, 11, 18-23.
- Erwin, T.D. (1991). Assessing Student Learning and Development. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Ewell, P. (2004). General Education and the Assessment Reform Agenda. AAC&U.
- Hernon, **P. &** Dugan, R.E. (2004). *Outcomes Assessment in Higher Education*. Westport, CT: Libraries Unlimited.
- Knight, P.T. (2002). The Achilles' heel of quality: The assessment of student learning. *Quality in Higher Education, 8,* 107-115.
- Lazerson, M., Wagener, U. & Shumanis, N. (2000). What makes a revolution? Teaching and learning in higher education, 1980-2000. *Change*, *32*, 12-19.
- Lopez, C.L. (1998). Assessment of Student Learning. Liberal Education, 84, 36-43.
- Peterson, M.W. & Einarson, M.K. (2001). What are colleges doing about student assessment? Does it make a difference? *Journal of Higher Education*, 72, 629-669.
- Shalverson, R.J. & Huang, L. (2003). Responding responsibly to the frenzy to assess learning in higher education. *Change*, *35*, **10-19**.
- Taras, M. (2002). Using assessment for learning and learning for assessment. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 27, 501-510.

Guides for Implementation

- Allen, M.J. (2004). A ssessing A cademic Programs in Higher Education. Bolton, MA: Anker Publishing.
- Angelo, T. & Cross, P. (1993). Classroom Assessment Techniques. San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Ferguson, M. (2005). Advancing Liberal Education: Assessment Practices on Campus. AAC&U.



- Huba, M. & Freed, J. (1999). *Learner Centered Assessment on College Campuses*. New York: Allyn and Bacon/Longman.
- Leskes, A. & Wright, B. (2205). *The Art and Science of Assessing General Education Outcomes.* AAC&U.
- Maki, P.L. (2004). A ssessing for Learning: Building a Sustainable Commitment Across the Institution. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Musil, C.M. (2006). Assessing Global Learning. AAC&U.
- Nichols, J.O. & Nichols, K.W. (2005). A Road Map for Improvement of Student Learning and Support Services through Assessment. Flemington, N.J.:Agathon.
- Oates, K.K. & Leavitt, L.H. (2003). Service Learning and Learning Communities: Tools for Integration and Assessment. AAC&U.
- Palomba, C.A. & Banta, T.W. Assessment Essentials: Planning, Implementing, and Improving Assessment in Higher Education. Higher and Adult Education Series. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Serban, A.M. & Friedlander, J. Developing and implementing assessment of student learning outcomes. New Directions for Community Colleges, 126. San Francisco: Jossey_Bass.
- Steil, Ruth and Lewchuk, Les (2002). The Outcomes Primer, Reconstructing the College Curriculum, 2n^a ed. [order through Strategic Concepts, Inc, Richmond, British Columbia, sciV.telus.net, Tel (604) 274-3643, Fax (604) 275-1303]
- Stevens, D.D. & Levi, A.J. (2004). Introduction to Rubrics: An Assessment Tool to Save Grading Time, Convey Effective Feedback and Promote Student Learning. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Suskie, Linda. (2004). Assessing Student Learning: A Common Sense Guide. Bolton, MA: Anker Publishing.
- Walvoord, Barbara.(2004). A ssessment Clear and Simple. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Evaluation

- Cambridge, B.L. (1996). The paradigm shifts: Examining quality of teaching through assessment of student learning. *Innovative Higher Education*, 20, 287-297.
- Ewell, P.T. (2002). A delicate balance: The role of evaluation in management. *Quality in Higher Education*, *8*, 159-171.
- Ewell, P.T. (1999). Linking performance measures to resource allocation: Exploring unmapped terrain. *Quality in Higher Education*, 5, 191-209.

Models, Structures, and Organizational Issues

- Atkingson_Grosjean, J. & Grosjean, G. (2000). The use of performance models in higher education: A comparative international review. *Education Policy Analysis A rchives*, 8, n30.
- Ewell, P.T. (1988). Implementing Assessment: Some organizational issues. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, *59*, 15-28.
- Nichols, J.O. (). Assessment Case Studies: Common Issues in Implementation with Various Campus Approaches to Resolution. Edison, NJ: Agathon.

Peterson, M.W. & Augustine, C.H. (2000). Organizational practices enhancing the influence of student assessment information in academic decisions. *Research in Higher Education*, 41, 21-52.

Policy Issues

- Burke, J.C. (2002). Funding public colleges and universities for performance: Popularity, problems and prospects. Ithaca, NY: State University of New York Press
- Burke, J.C. & Modarresi, S. (2000). To keep or not to keep performance funding: Signals from stakeholders. *Journal of Higher Education*, 71, 432-453.
- Carey, J.O. & Gregory, V.L. (2003). Toward improving student learning: Policy issues and design structures in course level outcomes assessment. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education, 28,* 215-226.
- Green, K.C. (2002). In search of academic accountability. Convergence, 5, 44-46.
- Honan, J.P. & Teferra, D. (2001). The US academic profession: Key policy challenges. *Higher Education*, *41*,*1*, 183-203.
- King, A.F. (2000). The changing face of accountability: Monitoring and assessing institutional performance in higher education. *Journal of Higher Education*, *71*, 411-431.
- Layzell, D.T. (1999) Linking performance to funding outcomes at the state level for public institutions of higher education: Past, present and future. *Research in Higher Education*, 40, 233-246.
- Lingenfelter, P.E. (2003). Educational accountability: Setting standards, improving performance. *Change*, 35, 18-23.
- McMurtie, B. (2000). Accreditors revamp policies to stress student learning. *Chronicle of Higher Education, 46,* 29-31.
- National Center for Educational Statistics. (1996). *The National Assessment of College Student Learning: An Inventory of State Level Assessment Activities.* U.S. Department of Education.
- National Center for Educational Statistics. (1996). *Technical Issues in Large _Scale Performance Assessment*. U.S. Department of Education.
- Peterson, M.W. & Augustine, C.H. (2000). External and internal influences on institutional approaches to student assessment: Accountability or improvement? *Research in Higher Education*, 41, 443-479.
- Ratcliff, J.L., Lubinescu, E.S., & Gaffney, M.A. (2001). Two continuums collide: Accreditation and assessment. *New Directions for Higher Education*, 113, 5-21.
- St. John, E.P., Kline, K.A., & Asker, E. (2001). The call for public accountability: Rethinking the linkages to student outcomes. In D.E. Heller (Ed), *The States and Public Higher Education Policy: Affordability, Access, and Accountability.* Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.

Wellman, J.V. (2001). Assessing state accountability systems. *Change*, *33*, 46-52. Wergin, J. (2005). Taking responsibility for student learning. *Change*, *37*:1, *30*_33.

Practice _____

- Banta, T.W. (2000). Assessment Update: Progress, Trends, and Practices in Higher Education. San Francisco, CA.
- California State University Institute for Teaching and Learning. (1992). *Student Outcomes A ssessment: What Makes It Work?* Long Beach, CA: CSU Institute for Teaching and Learning.
- Jones, M.G. & Harmon, S.W. (2002). What professors need to know about technology to assess on-line student learning. *New Directions for Teaching and Learning*, *91*, 19-30.
- Kuh, G.D. (2001). Assessing what really matters to student learning: Inside the National Survey of Student Engagement. *Change*, *33*, 10-17.
- Michelson, E. & Mandell, A. (2004). Portfolio Development and the Assessment of Prior Learning: Perspectives, Models, and Practices. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Michlitsch, J.F. & Sidle, M.W. (2002). Assessing student learning outcomes: A comparative study of techniques used in business school disciplines. *Journal of Education for Business*, 77, 125-130.
- Peat, M. (2000). Online self-assessment materials: Do these make a difference to student learning? A ssociation for Learning Technology Journal, 8,51-57.
- Palomba, C.A. & Banta, T.W. (2001). Assessing Student Competence in Accredited Disciplines. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Smith, G. & Wood, L. (2000). Assessment of learning in university mathematics. International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science & Technology, 31, 125-132.
- Underwood, D.G. (1991). Taking inventory: Identifying assessment activities. *Research in Higher Education*, 32, 59-69.
- Walvoord, B. and Anderson, V. (1998). *Effective Grading: A Tool for Learning and* Assessment

Program Review and Institutional Effectiveness

- Bresciani, M. J. & Wolff, R.A. (2006), *Outcomes-Based Academic and Co-Curricular Program Review*. Stylus.
- Gentemann, K.M. (1994). Refocusing the academic program review on student learning: The role of assessment. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, 84, 31-46.
- Massy, W.F. & Meyerson, J.W. (1994). *Measuring Institutional Performance in Higher Education*. Princeton, NJ: Peterson's.
- McGhee, P. (2003). *The academic quality handbook: Enhancing higher education in universities and further education colleges*. Herndon, VA: Stylus.
- Nichols, J.O. (1991). A Practitioner's Handbook for Institutional Effectiveness and Student Outcomes Assessment Implementation. Edison, NJ: Agathon.
- Nichols, J.O. & Nichols, K. (). *The Departmental Guide and Record Book for Student Outcomes A ssessment and Institutional Effectiveness*. Edison, NJ: Agathon.
- Roberson, M.T., Carnes, L.W., & Vice, J.P. (2002). Defining and measuring student competencies: A content validation approach for business program outcome assessment. *Delta Pi Epsilon Journal*, 44, 13-24.

Wergin, J.F. (2003). Departments That Work:Building and Sustaining Cultures of Evidence in A cademic Programs. Boston, MA: Anker Publishing.

Student Affairs and Administrative Services

- Banta, T.W. & Kuh, G.D. (1998). A missing link in assessment: Collaboration between academic and student affairs professionals. *Change*, *30*, 40-46.
- Bresciani, M.J., Zelna, C.L., & Anderson, J.A. Assessing Student Learning and Development. NASPA.
- Evans, G.R. (2000). Quality assessment of the administration and management of universities: Ways and means. *Higher Education Review*, *32*, 3-16.
- Keeling, R.P., ed. (2004). *Learning Reconsidered*. NASPA/ACPA. (2006). *Learning Reconsidered* 2. NASPA, ACPA, et al.
- Kuh, G.D. & Banta, T.W. (2000). Faculty student affairs collaboration on assessment-Lessons from the field. *About Campus*, 4, 4-11.
- Nichols, K.W. & Nichols, J.O. (2000). *The Department Head's Guide to Implementation in A dministrative and Educational Support Units*. Edison, NJ: Agathon.
- Schuh, J.H. & Uperaft, M.L. (2000). Assessment Practice in Student Affairs: An Applications Manual. Jossey Bass.
- Uperaft, M.L. & Schuh. (1996). Assessment in Student Affairs: A Guide for Practitioners. San Francisco: Jossey Bass.

<u>Research</u>

- Anaya, G. (1999). College impact on student learning: Comparing the use of selfreported gains, standardized test scores, and college grades. *Research in Higher Education, 40,* 499-526.
- Banta, T.W. (2002). Building a scholarship of assessment: The Jossey-Bass higher and adult education series. Indianapolis, IN: Jossey-Bass.
- Banta, T.W., Black, K.E., & Ward, E.R. (1999). Using assessment to ensure the quality of post baccalaureate programs. *Continuing Higher Education Review*, 63, 87-97.
- Banta, T.W. & Borden, V.M.H. (1994). Performance indicators for accountability and improvement. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, 82, 95-106.
- Bain, R. & Mirel, J. (2003). Reviving standards based reform: A look at teaching history. *College Board Review*, 198, 21-27.
- Bain, R. & Mirel, J. (2003). Reviving standards based reform: A look at teaching history. *College Board Review*, 198, 21-27.
- Bilder, A.E. & Conrad, C.F. (1996). Challenges in assessing outcomes in graduate and professional education. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, 92, 5-15.
- Contrell, S.A. & Jones, E.A. (2003). Researching the scholarship of teaching and learning: An analysis of current curriculum practices. *Innovative Higher Education*, 27, 169–181.
- Donald, J.G. & Denison, D.B. (2001). Quality assessment of university students: Student perceptions of quality criteria. *Journal of Higher Education*, 72, 478-502.

..----

Ewell, P.T. (1995). Working over time: The evolution of longitudinal student tracking data bases. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, 87, 7-19.

Haworth, J.G. (1996). Assessment in graduate and professional education: Present realities, future products. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, 92, 89-97.

- Kuh, G.D., Pace, C.R., & Vesper, N. (1997). The development of process indicators to estimate student gains associated with good practices in undergraduate education. *Research in Higher Education*, *38*, 435-454.
- Taylor, B.E. & Massy, W.F. (1996). *Strategic Indicators for Higher Education*. Princeton, NJ: Peterson's.

Compiled by Deborah Olsen, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

Edited and updated by Robert Mundhenk, formerly Director of Assessment and Senior Scholar, American Association for Higher Education

Level V Activity: Use of data to improve the assessment process.

Through an "assessment" of the assessment process, the English department looked at the sampling process it used for gathering data. It was agreed that the scoring rubric used as a faculty-scoring guide would be more effective if all faculty scored the same papers. The inter-rater scoring responses of faculty could be improved if the faculty members used the rubric as a focus for what was "good writing" and what was "in need of work" and if they all scored the same sample of papers.

Semester grades of students were considered as a "cross-validation" measure of assessment scores. "If the number of passing grades in a semester is consistent with number of passing assessments, the department can use that fact as validation". If this is in fact not the case, the assessment process will require further refinement.

Finally, it was found that ENL 102 papers reflected the inability of students to put together a strong argument based on prompts. The department made a priority to re-evaluate prompts, to further emphasize focus, supporting details, frameworks and methods of argumentation in the curriculum. The degree to which the "Riverside text" addressed the needs of the ENL 102 students' needs was also a topic for review.

We hope that this discussion of the five levels of assessment activity and their benefits to your programs and departments will encourage you to continue your efforts.

V. TYPES OF ASSESSMENT OPPORTUNITIES

Classroom assessment is the study of the impact of teaching on student learning. Typically, the assessment is done by college faculty periodically by collecting data from students to see what and how they are learning during the semester so that if need be, corrective action may be taken. The data may be classroom tests, or more collaborative interactions between teacher and learner.

There are two primary forms of assessment the first is formative assessment, which is ongoing and diagnostic. It can be used to guide and improve student performance. The minute papers, one sentence summary, portfolio, performance appraisal and the muddiest point discussed next are examples of formative assessment.

Summative assessment is a culminating evaluation for a course and provides a relative level of proficiency or mastery of instructional or learning outcomes. Summative assessment is the form most often used by institutions and individual faculty. It may include final exams, capstone courses, portfolios, applied experiences, case studies or commercially available tools discussed in the second part of this section.

Formative Assessment

Minute Papers: Are probably the best-known technique for simple, in-class student assessment. It is flexible, easy to explain and administer and "it opens a window on students responses to their classroom learning experiences". At the end of selected class periods, faculty asks students to write their answers to two questions. First, what was the most important thing you learned today? And second, what questions remain uppermost in your mind as we conclude this class session? This assessment technique provides data that make it clear whether faculty messages and priorities are being conveyed to students. The message to students is that they must identify major points, integrate and synthesize the lesson of the day and then be prepared to think about the questions raised by the faculty member. (Cross and Angelo, 1988, p. 148)

The One Sentence Summary: Is another technique that is also simple and easy to use. This technique asks the questions, Who Did What to Whom, How, When Where and Why? This literary device is used to find out how completely and creatively students can summarize their understanding of a particular topic within the grammatical constraints of that single sentence (Cross and Angelo, 1988, p. 62).

Portfolio Assessment: Is a purposeful collection of student work, which shows effort, progress or achievement in one or more areas. Portfolios may be specific to a department or to the students' complete general education experience including career goals and interest and ability assessment information. In the case of general education portfolios, student completion and success in institutional goals such as race/gender and ethnic awareness, literacy/ math ability may be tracked. This type of assessment opens opportunities for students to track and evaluate their own progress in reaching personal and educational goals. Several college departments, such as Administrative Information Services are currently using portfolios.

Performance Appraisal: Performance tests ask students to demonstrate proficiency in conducting an experiment, executing a series of steps in a reasonable amount of time, following instructions, creating drawings, manipulating materials or equipment, or reacting to real or simulated situations. Performance tests can be administered individually or in groups. They are not widely used in colleges and universities, as they are logistically difficult to set up and more difficult to score. They can be useful in classes that require students to demonstrate their skills, such as health fields, sciences, education and the performing arts.

The Muddiest Point: The instructor asks students to jot down a quick response to the following question: What was the muddiest point in the lecture, homework assignment, the reading, film, etc. This process provides quick feedback on what students find least clear or confusing. This information can help faculty decide what to emphasize and how much time can be spent on certain topics Students must also quickly assess their grasp of the material and effectively articulate any points of confusion, a complex and useful skill

Summative Assessment

Final Examinations: A standard culminating type assessment of student achievement. Many NPC departments are using these assessments to not only assess student outcomes, but to validate and optimize teaching methods. This is being done by identifying student outcomes in relation to course and college objectives (criterion referenced instruction). Examination questions are being linked directly to course learning objectives.

Capstone Courses: Typically a department specific course or project which requires the integration and application of specific tools, techniques, knowledge, resources and attitudes associated with an entire sequence of courses within a program such as Legal Assistant or Administration of Criminal Justice.

Commercially Available Assessments: Such as the "College Outcome Measures Program" (COMP), "Collegiate Assessment of Academic Proficiency" (CAAP) and "The Academic Profile" are useful in measuring student acquisition of general education learning. They also provide cross-validation of faculty developed assessments and are norm referenced, so that an institution may compare the results of its' students with those of other institutions. The tools highlighted here do not need to be given as pre/post tests due to reasonable levels of validity and reliability. Drawbacks are that they are expensive to administer and score, often-times it is difficult to get students to take the assessments and it can take a long time to develop "local norms" for the institution to make valid assumptions with the results.

Longitudinal Student Studies: Such as review of student records in subsequent, related courses. An example: review of randomly selected student's success in English 101 and or English 102 after completing developmental education courses through "The Learning Cornerstone".

VI. ASSESSMENT OF STUDENT ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT REPORT (DUE DATE APRIL 9, 2004)

DEPARTMENT:

MISSION: (Circle One) General Education, Transfer Preparation, Employability, Developmental Education, Customized Education (Economic Development), or Personal Interest.

There are currently five levels of assessment that are possible within each department. These levels are related to development of the department assessment data gathering techniques and use of the information to fine-tune courses as necessary.

	,,∩ <u>U, -</u> ¦.;,				
Level I: The department assessment processes	Yes INO -				
have been detailed and developed for use by faculty.	Attach copies of instruments used, instructions for students, time frames for activities, etc.				
Level H: Data collection has been	Yes No				
implemented.	Attach copies of grading rubrics, analysis of test questions and overall findings.				
Level HI: Faculty, instructional leaders, and	Yes No				
deans have analyzed the data.	Attach copies of conclusions reached by the assessment team.				
Level IV: Faculty, instructional leaders, and	Yes No				
deans have used the data to improve student academic achievement.	Attach highlights related to curriculum and/or assessment changes which were implemented through this process such as revision of study guides, exams, changes in grading rubrics.				
Level V: Data has been used to improve the	Yes No				
assessment process.	Attach highlights related to improvements and/or streamlining the assessment process.				

Department Activity Level Checklist

Assessment Chair's Signature

Date

Dean's Signature

Date

VII. GLOSSARY OF ASSESSMENT TERMS

This glossary of commonly used assessment terms is provided to faculty and staff involved in the assessment of student academic achievement. It is from an article by Melodye S Wiens, English Instructor at Spokane Community College, Spokane, Washington.* We hope this will be helpful in your assessment activities. Please let your CASSAA representatives know if we can add to or modify this listing for ease of use.

*Note: From "A is for Assessment and Accountability", Melodye S. Weins, 1998, Research in Developmental Education, 15(2), 1-6. Copyright 1998 by the National Center for Developmental Education, Appalachian State University. Reprinted with permission. Article follows.

From state legislators to school administrators to the public at large, everyone is clamoring for tangible evidence of what students know and can do as a result of the time they spend in our learning environments. Before we can satisfy that request, however, we must agree on the vocabulary we will use to communicate about the methods and results of assessment.

This glossary collects and clarifies, using straightforward terminology, the words educators are using to discuss assessment. It includes words used in a wide variety of learning communities, including K-12 and postsecondary settings.

It is a challenge to ferret out fine distinctions between similar terms and to determine which words and definitions work best. A few educators may balk at the connotations that some of these terms and their definitions evoke. Also, some readers may be surprised to find words that relate specifically to instruction and instructional design. Each of the words included is considered integral to discussions about the overall assessment process and, as such, seem appropriate for placement in this glossary of assessment terms. It's a fast-changing field, however, and many of these definitions will need adjustments as the language and practice of assessment continues to evolve.

Glossary of Assessment Terms

Abilities: Skills needed for effectiveness in the worlds of work, family, and civic community. The distinctive feature of an ability-based approach is that educators make explicit the expectation that students should be able to do something with what they know (Alverno College, 1998).

Accommodation: Any variation in the assessment environment or process. Accommodations include variations in scheduling, setting, aides and equipment, and presentation format. These variations should not change the level, content, or performance criteria and should not change the reliability and validity of the assessment. Accommodations are made in order to provide students with the opportunity to demonstrate what they know (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.1).

Accountability: Accountability systems provide information that tells policymakers, the public, and others how well the education system—classrooms, schools, and districts—is doing. Information typically includes student assessment data and indicators such as dropout and graduation rates. Accountability information can be used in different ways: to provide information to the public, to help all the groups involved reach agreement on how to improve the system, or to provide rewards or sanctions for success or failure (Education Commission of the States, 1998, p.36).

Accreditation: The review processes a school or district undergoes periodically to ensure that it meets state requirements and quality measures. The process usually involves the review of a district's or school's evaluation procedures and improvement plans; the effectiveness of education programs and services; and other policies, practices, and management processes. Recently, some states began using accreditation as a performance-based process focused on student achievement and school-improvement planning (Education Commission of the States, 1998, p.36).

Affective Objective: A statement specifying the acquisition of particular attitudes, values, or feelings. Deals with affective domain; also called "attitudinal objectives" (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.20). *Also see:* Dispositions.

Alignment: The process of linking content and performance standards to assessment, curriculum, and teaching and learning in classrooms (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.1).

Alternative Assessment: Any type of assessment in which students *create* a response to a question or task. In traditional assessments, students *choose* a response from a given list, such as multiple-choice, true/false, or matching. Alternative assessments can include short-answer questions, essays, performance assessments, oral presentations, demonstrations, exhibitions, and portfolios (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.39). See also Authentic Assessment *and* Performance Assessment.

Analytical Trait Scoring: Judging a performance several times along different important dimensions. An example might be the judging of a piece of persuasive writing for the author's attention to audience, correct use of grammar and punctuation, focus on the topic, and persuasiveness of argument. (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.39). *A lso see* Primary Trait Analysis.

Anchor Performances: Examples of student performance that serve as a standard against which other papers or performances may be judged. They are often used as examples of performances at different points on a scoring rubric for a particular grade [or course] level. In math problem solving, for example, anchor performances are selected from actual student work that is considered to exemplify the quality performance level of "1," "2," "3," and so forth. If used with analytical scoring, there may be anchor or benchmark performances for each trait being assessed. The top anchor is sometimes called the exemplar (adapted from Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.39).

Assessment: An ongoing process aimed at understanding and improving student learning. It involves making our expectations explicit and public; setting appropriate criteria and high standards for learning quality; systematically gathering, analyzing, and interpreting evidence to determine how well performance matches those expectations and standards; and using the resulting information to document, explain, and ⁱmprove performance. When it is embedded effectively within larger institutional systems, assessment can help us focus our collective attention, examine our assumptions, and create a shared academic culture dedicated to assuring and improving the quality of higher education (Angelo. 1995, p.7). *Also see* Student Learning Assessment.

Assessment Literacy: Possessing knowledge about the basic principles of sound assessment practice, including terminology, the development and use of assessment methodologies and techniques, and familiarity with standards of quality in assessment (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.1).

Attributes: Specific performances that provide evidence of a student's competency in meeting an outcome or objective.

Audience: Learners for whom an objective is intended (Piskurich, 1993, p.23.7). Also see Learner.

Authentic Assessment: Assessment that both mirrors and measures student performance in "real-world" tasks and situations. For example, to assess authentically a student's ability to problem solve, the student is given a real-world problem and assessed on how he or she goes about solving it (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p. 39). *Also see* **Alternative Assessment** and **Performance Assessment**.

Behavioral Objective: See Instructional Objective and Learning Objective.

Benchmarks: The designated points at which a student's performance may be assessed. Can be according to age, grade, or developmental levels. In addition, benchmarks define the accumulation of learning within a period of time (Maryland Assessment Consortium, 1993, p. 1; Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.1).

Bias: An inclination or preference, especially one that interferes with impartial judgement (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.1).

Capstone Assessment: A summative assessment project that requires integration and application of the specific tools, techniques, knowledge, resources, and attitudes associated with the entire sequence of study in a program or course.

Checklists: Lists of characteristics, skills, or behaviors. Checklists are used to guide evaluation of student performances by noting the presence or absence of any given characteristic or behavior (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.1).

Cognitive Objective: A statement specifying the acquisition of particular knowledge or information dealing with the cognitive domain (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.21).

College Level: The level of skill attainment, reasoning ability, and so forth, associated with/required by courses of study designed to lead to a baccalaureate degree. Also known as "transfer level" in programs of a two-year institution (College Reading and Learning Association, 1990, p.4). *A lso see* **Developmental** *and* **Remedial**.

Competence: The individual's demonstrated capacity to perform, that is, the possession of knowledge, skills, and personal characteristics needed to satisfy the special demands or requirements of a particular situation (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.1).

Comprehension: Constructing meaning from text or other instructional methods and media.

Comprehensive Assessment System: A comprehensive assessment program provided for all important educational decisions relating to learning, instruction, program improvement, and public accountability (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.1).

Conditions: One of the three required parts of a learning objective that describes the circumstances under which the performance or outcome of learning will be observed or measured. The whom, what, where, and with what the performance can be accomplished (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.21).

Content Standards: Statements that define what students should know and be able to do in various subject areas and at different points in their education (Education Commission of the States, 1998, p.36).

Context (of a Performance Assessment): The circumstances within which the performance is embedded. Problem solving can be assessed in the context of a specific subject (for example, mathematics) or in the context of a real-life situation (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.39).

Course Description: A document that defines the why, where, when, how, for whom, and by whom a specific course will be given. It includes the course goal(s), objectives, and a course calendar (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.21). Sometimes called a "syllabus."

Course Goal: A general statement that outlines what the student is to learn, in broad terms (not in measurable or behavioral terms) in a course (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.21).

Course Map: A document that outlines a course and shows the various relationships between the lessons and modules, usually in the form of a diagram or flowchart (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.21). *Also see* Curriculum Framework *and* Plan of Instruction.

Course Objectives: The actions, knowledge, and skills the learner is expected to have acquired at the end of a sequence of instruction (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.21). Sometimes referred to as Terminal Objectives.

Criteria: One of the three required parts of a learning objective that states the minimum competency or performance level that the student must attain by the end of training for proficiency in the performance. Defines how well the student must perform the skills (adapted from Piskurich, 1993). *Also see* Performance Criteria.

Criterion-referenced Assessment: An assessment designed to reveal what a student knows, understands, or can do in relation to specific performance objectives. Criterion-referenced assessments are used to identify student strengths and weaknesses with regard to specific knowledge or skills that are goals of the instructional program (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.40).

Criterion-referenced Instruction: Training or instruction designed around the mastery of established instructional objectives. It is usually performance- and skills-oriented, based on the criteria of the objectives (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.21).

Criterion-referenced Test: An assessment designed to provide a clear picture of what a student knows and can do. It measures performance against an established criterion or standard, rather than in comparison to a norm group (Education Commission of the States, 1998, p.36). *Also see* Criterion-referenced Assessment.

Curriculum Framework: An organized plan that defines content to be learned in terms of the general categories of skills, knowledge, and processes. Frameworks may be developed by content areas or [by] some other organizing principle (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994). *Also see* Course Map *and* Plan of Instruction.

Developmental: In the norma.Uexpected sequence of learning. Usually used in counterdistinction to accelerated and/or remedial learning...Use of the term in college education assumes/takes cognizance of the notion that there is a gap that needs to be filled in for many students. The claim is, thus, that these students need to learn skills that they have not previously been taught (in high school) and that the fault is not with their ability, but with their preparation... [Also] Instruction designed to improve a student's competencies in the basic skills and allow increased mastery over the student's environment to facilitate effective learning and communication (College Reading and Learning Association, 1990, p.5). *Also see* College Level *and* Remedial.

Dispositions: Affective outcomes such as responsibility, flexibility, perseverance, self-confidence, and a positive attitude. Some new assessments attempt to measure these outcomes (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.40).

Enabling Objective: A performance objective describing a skill or competence that is an essential element of a larger or more complex competence. Sometimes called "Subordinate Objective" or "En Route Objective" (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.22). *A lso see* **Learning Objective.**

Enhanced Multiple Choice: An enhanced multiple-choice item gives the student an opportunity to add something to the multiple-choice response. The student may add a reason why the item was chosen, an extension of the information, supporting evidence, or any other enhancement that helps the examiner better understand the student's response choice (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.2).

Entry Evaluation: A specialized form of evaluation given to students at the beginning of the_course that helps to determine the skills with which they are coming into the course. Also used to determine the emphasis and direction that the course will take. May be in the form of a pretest that indicates the knowledge and/ or skills of the student prior to taking the course while defining the core competencies required of the student at the end of the course (adapted from Piskurich, 1993). *Also see* **Pretest.**

Essay Test: A test that requires the students to answer questions in writing is an essay test. Responses can be brief or extensive. The essay test usually measures knowledge as well as the ability to apply knowledge of a subject to questions about the subject (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.2).

Evaluation: The act of using assessment information to make decisions, choices, or judgements based on criteria and evidence. Also refers to the basis and methods by which data are collected and analyzed to revise and improve overall performance (adapted from Piskurich, 1993; Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997).

Evaluation of the Student: The collecting and reviewing of data about the student before, during, and after a course. Used to determine weak areas in a course and to improve the instruction. Can include entry evaluations, performance testing, and written tests.

Exemplar: A model of excellence (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.2). *Also see* **Anchor Performances.**

Exhibition: A method of student assessment that requires students to demonstrate what they know and can do, as an alternative to traditional paper-pencil tests. Exhibitions may take many forms, including class presentations, speeches, readings, demonstrations, and artistic performances. Teachers often videotape exhibitions for later review and as a record of student progress (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.2).

Formative Assessment: Ongoing diagnostic assessment that provides information to guide instruction and improve student performance (Maryland Assessment Consortium, 1993, p.2). *Also see* **Summative Assessment**.

Goal: An intended outcome not stated in measurable terms. A general statement of intent; an expression of the desires and expectations of the developers and/or consumers of an educational program (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.22).

Holistic Scoring: Assigning a single score based on an overall assessment of performance rather than by scoring or analyzing dimensions individually. The product is considered to be more important that the sum of its parts, and so the quality of a final product might combine a number of elements on a single scale (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.2).

Indicator: A learner behavior or action toward accomplishing an essential learning requirement. A cluster of indicators forms the basis for development of performance tasks that may be used for [student learning] assessment (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.2).

Instructional Objective: A precise statement indicating the performance expected of a learner in terms of specific skills and concepts as a result of exposure to instructional material. The objective may include components that indicate what the learner should be able to do (performance), under what conditions (conditions), and at what level of competence (criteria). Instructional objectives address cognitive (knowledge) skills, affective (attitude) skills, and psychomotor (manual) skills at all levels (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.22). *Also see* **Behavioral Objective, Learning Objective,** *and* **Performance Objective.**

Integration: Work that does not stand alone but is interrelated and connected. Refers to tasks that assess students' abilities to apply concepts, principles, and processes from two or more subject disciplines or course outcomes to a central question, theme, issue, or problem (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.2).

Item: A question or statement that poses a problem for a student. Typical test item types include multiplechoice, true/false, matching sets, short-answer items, and completion items. Short-answer items require students to furnish anything from words to a few sentences. Completion items (also called "fill in the blank" items) require students to supply a word to complete a sentence (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.2).

Learner: Any individual engaged in acquiring new skills, attitudes, or knowledge whether with a specified sequence of instruction or a random assortment of stimuli (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.23).

Learning: Any change in [the learner's] knowledge, skill, or value system. Change can only be judged by assessment or evaluation (Cranton, 1989, p.136).

Learning Objective: The component actions, knowledge, and skills a student must learn to attain the course (terminal) objective(s). The objective may include components that indicate what the learner should be able to do (performance), under what condition (conditions), and at what level of competence (criteria). Learning objectives represent the leaning difference between where the learner is now and where one wants them to be. Also referred to as "Enabling Objectives" (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.23). *Also see* **Behavioral Objective, Instructional Objective,** *and* **Performance Objective.**

Lesson: Any block of learning designed around a specific skill. It may be made up of a number of modules (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.23).

Lesson Objective: The Primary or Terminal Objective for any lesson (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.23).

Lesson Plan: An outline of important points of a lesson arranged in the order in which they are to be presented, including: (a) activities of the student and instructor, (b) specific points to be made, and (c) resources to be used [and] when and how to use them. The lesson plan should be detailed enough so that instructors with similar backgrounds can conduct the same course with a minimum of preparation (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.23).

Longitudinal Data: Data collected from the same cohort of students over time. Longitudinal data can take into account statistical determinants of achievement such as socioeconomic status and family background and are [suitable for] determining "value added" by a teacher or school (Education Commission of the States, 1998, p.36).

Major Course Objective: An objective that defines the expected outcome of a complete course. Sometimes called the **Terminal Objective** or **Outcome** for the course (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.23).

Mastery Learning: An instructional learning theory based on the premise that, given time and appropriate instruction, all students can learn well. Time is the critical variable among students, and learning **is** the constant.

Matrix sampling: Giving a portion of the assessment to different, representative samples of students so that no student need take the entire assessment. The scores that are obtained are group rather than individual scores, and [they] are often used to look at the performance of a school or school district (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.40).

Metacognition: The ability to think about one's own thinking and affective responses.

Modification: An alteration of the assessment content or the assessment instrument. Modifications affect the reliability and validity of the assessment (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.2).

Module: A unit of instruction, usually designed for the achievement of one learning objective. A lesson may be made up of a number of modules (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.24).

Norm-**referenced Assessment:** An assessment designed to reveal how an individual student's performance or test result ranks or compares to that of an appropriate peer group. More generally, it has come to refer to comparisons of performance among students, schools, districts, or states. Also called "Norm-referenced test" (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p. 40; Education Commission of the States, 1998, p.36).

Objective: Intent communicated by a statement describing a proposed change in the learner (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.24). *Also see* **Outcomes.**

On_demand Assessment: Assessment that takes place at a predetermined time and place. State tests, SATs, and most final exams are examples of on-demand assessments (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.40).

Open_ended Task: The kind of performance required of students when they must generate a solution to a problem or perform a task when there is no, single right answer (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.40). *A lso see* **Open_response Task** *and* **Selected_response Task**.

Open_response Task: The kind of performance required of students when they are required to generate and answer, rather than select it from among several possible answers, but there is a single, correct response (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p. 40). *A lso see* **Open_ended Task** *and* **Selected_Response Task.**

Outcomes: "Outcomes" is shorthand for "Intended Outcomes of Instruction." Outcomes are operationally defined (measurable) educational goal statements for students, schools, and school systems. To operationalize outcomes, there must be agreement on the specific "standards and measures": the tasks, criteria, and standards by which the outcomes will be assessed (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997).

Performance: One of the three required parts of a learning objective that describes the task, activity, or attitude that a student must exhibit. It is an observable behavior (adapted from Piskurich, 1993).

Performance Assessment: Direct, systematic observation of an actual student performance or examples of student performance and rating of the performance according to preestablished performance criteria. Such assessments are related to the performance of an educational objective (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.40). *Also see* Authentic Assessment *and* Alternative Assessment.

Performance Criteria: A description of the characteristics that will be judged for a task Performance criteria may be holistic, analytical trait, general, or specific. Performance criteria are expressed as a rubric or scoring guide. Anchor papers or benchmark performances may be used to identify each level of competency in the rubric or scoring guide (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1997, p.41). *A lso see* Competence *and* Criteria.

Performance Standards: Explicit definitions and concrete examples of how well students are expected to learn the material represented by content standards. Performance "levels" also may be used to define students' demonstrated proficiency at various points as they progress toward a standard (Education Commission of the States, 1998, p.36). *Also see* Benchmark *and* Anchor Performances.

Performance Task: A performance task gives the student the opportunity to illustrate, perform, or demonstrate what he or she knows and can do (Education Commission of the States, 1998, p.36). *Also see* Task.

Plan of Instruction: A document that outlines a course, broken down into lessons and modules. It includes the lesson objective, presentation plan, resources, and an indicator of how the student will be tested (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.24). *Also see* Course Map *and* Curriculum Framework.

Portfolio: A purposeful collection of student work showing effort, progress, or achievement in one or more areas. The usefulness (for assessment and instruction) of any portfolio is enhanced by performance criteria, student involvement, and student self-reflection (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.3). *Also see* Portfolio Assessment.

Portfolio Assessment: Portfolios can be assessed in a variety of ways. Each piece may be individually scored, or the portfolio might be assessed merely for the presence of required pieces, or a holistic scoring process might be used and an evaluation make on the basis of an overall impression of the student's collected work. It is common that assessors work together to establish consensus of standards or ensure greater reliability in evaluation of student work. Established criteria are often used by reviewers and students involved in the process of evaluating [the learning] process and [the] achievement of [learning] objectives (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.3). *Also see* Portfolio.

Post-test: An evaluation of students done at the conclusion of instruction to determine if a student has achieved the course objectives (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.24). *Also see* Pretest:

Pre-test: An evaluation of students prior to instruction to determine what level of knowledge, skill, or aptitude they are bringing to instruction (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.24.). *Also see* Entry Evaluation.

Primary Trait Analysis: An explicit and systematic identification of those "traits" necessary for demonstration of competence on an assignment or in a course. Rubrics and other scoring instruments are established to reflect the relative significance of those traits. Under each trait, the instructor composes a 3- to 5-point rating scale. Students are awarded scores for each trait and given a composite score with the primary traits weighted (adapted from Walvoord & McCarthy, 1990). *Also see* Analytical Trait Scoring. Problem-based Learning: Learning that is centered around a problem, a query, or a puzzle that the learner has to solve. An approach to curriculum which is problem centered rather than discipline centered (Boud, 1985, p.13).

Problem Solving: Behaviors used by a learner to solve problems, answer questions, or solve a puzzle (Boud, 1985).

Prompt: An assignment or directions asking the student to undertake a task or a series of tasks. A prompt presents the context of the situations, the problem to be solved, and criteria or standards by which responses will be evaluated (Maryland Assessment Consortium, 1993, p.6). *A lso see* Task.

Rating Scale: A scale based on descriptive words or phrases that indicate performance. Qualities of a performance are described (e.g., advanced, intermediate, novice) in order to designate a level of achievement. The scale may be used with rubrics or descriptions of each level of performance (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.3). *Also see* Criteria, Rubric, *and* Scale.

Reliability: Reliability is the measure of consistency for an assessment instrument. The instrument should yield similar results over time with similar populations in similar circumstances (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.3).

Remedial: Instruction designed to remove a student's deficiencies in the basic entry or exit level skills at a prescribed level of proficiency in order to make him or her competitive with peers. Comments: The assumption is that students have already been taught (or at least been exposed to learning), but that the teaching was not effective and must be repeated (College Reading and Learning Association, 1990, p.11). *Also see* Developmental *and* College Level.

Rubric: An established set of criteria for scoring or rating students' performance on tests, portfolios, writing samples, or other performance tasks (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.41). *Also see* Rating Scale.

Scale: The range of scores possible for the student to achieve on a test or an assessment. Performance assessments typically use a 4- to 6-point scale, compared to a scale of 100 or more with traditional multiple-choice tests (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.41). *Also see* Rating Scale.

Scoring Criteria: Rules for assigning a score or rating a student's performance on tests, portfolios, writing samples, or other performance tasks. Scoring criteria may include rating scales, checklists, answer keys, and other scoring tools (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.3). *Also see* Criteria.

Scoring Guide: A package of guidelines intended for people scoring performance assessments. May include instructions for raters, notes on training raters, rating scales, and samples of student work exemplifying various levels of performance (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.3).

Selected Response Task: Selected response tasks are those that give the student choice and the student must select a response. These include multiple-choice, true/false, and matching items. The index of achievement is the number or proportion of questions answered correctly (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.3). *Also see* Open-ended Task *and* Open-response Task.

Self-assessment: The process of doing a systematic review of one's own performance, usually for the purpose of improving future performance. Such assessment may involve comparison with a standard, established criterion. Self-assessment may involve critiquing one's own work or may be a simple description of one's performance (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.3).

Skill: Any behavior or set of observable behaviors; an overt performance as opposed to covert behavior. A subset of a task (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.24).

Stakes: The consequences tied to performance on an assessment or test. A "low-stakes" test has few or no consequences tied to results; a "high-stakes" test has consequences related to performance. Stakes can include rewards for high performance, sanctions for low performance, promotion, or graduation. The rank-ordering of schools or districts when test results are publicly reported can be considered "high stakes" (Education Commission of the States, 1998, p.36-37).

Standard: Defines what level of skill students must demonstrate on the learning outcomes (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.41).

Standardized Assessments: Assessments that are administered and scored in exactly the same way for all students. Traditional standardized tests are typically mass-produced and machine-scored and are designed to measure skills and knowledge that are thought to be taught to all students in a fairly standardized way. However, performance assessments can also be standardized if they are administered and scored the same way for all students. Standardization is an important consideration if comparisons are to be made between scores. Standardized tests may produce norm-referenced or criterion-referenced information. Also called "Standardized Tests" (Bond, Friedman, & van der Ploeg, 1994, p.4.1).

Student Learning Assessment: The measurement of what a student knows and is able to do, usually expressed in terms of progress toward a standard or mastery of a standard. Assessment can include diverse measures, such as multiple-choice tests, constructed-response exercises, performance measures, and portfolios.

Summative Assessment: Culminating evaluation for a unit, grade level, or course of study. Provides a status report on mastery or degree of proficiency according to identified instructional or learning outcomes (Maryland Assessment Consortium, 1993, p.7). *Also see* Formative Assessment.

Task: Anything from a discrete multiple-choice or short-answer item to a complex project requiring students to use many different types of learning to solve a problem, investigate a solution, write a story, or do any other real-world task. The task is whole; within a task may be several dependent items (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.4). *Also see* Performance Task.

Terminal Objectives: The action, knowledge, or skills the learner is expected to have acquired at the end of instruction (Piskurich, 1993, p.29.25). *Also see* Course Objectives, Major Course Objectives, *and* Outcomes.

Test: A set of questions, a situation, or a task designed to permit an inference about what a learner knows in an area of interest (Maryland Assessment Consortium, 1993, p.7).

Thinking Skills. Thinking skills include thinking analytically, logically, and creatively to form reasoned judgements and solve problems (Washington Commission on Student Learning, 1997, p.4).

Understanding: In an assessment context, this is the demonstrated capacity to apply facts, concepts, and skills in new situations in appropriate ways.

Validity: The extent to which the assessment measures the desired performance and appropriate inferences can be drawn from the results. A valid assessment accurately reflects the learning it was designed to measure. For example, a valid assessment of mathematics problem solving would be to measure the student's ability to solve a problem and not the ability to read the problem (Bond, Frideman, & van der Ploeg. 1994).

Value Added: The amount of student achievement "contributed" by a teacher or a school during a school year or other set period of time. A school's contribution to students' achievement is the "value added" by the school. How much a school adds to students' learning can be calculated by assessing the differences in fall-to-spring (or fall-to-fall or spring-to-spring) testing of the same students (Education Commission of the States, 1998, p.3'7).

References

Alverno College. "Ability-based curriculum." (1998, October 25). [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.alvemo.eduieducators/e-curriculum.html</u>

- Angelo, T.A. (1995, November). Reassessing (and defining) assessment. AAHE Bulletin, 48(3), 7.
- Bond, L., Friedman, L., & van der Ploeg, A. (1994). Surveying the landscape of state educational assessment programs. Washington, DC: Council for Educational Development and Research and National Education Association.
- Boud, D.J. (Ed.). (1985). *Problem _based learning in education for the professionals*. Sydney, Australia: Higher Education Research and Development Society of Australia.
- Cranton, P. (1989). Planning instruction for adult learners. Toronto, Ontario: Wall and Emerson.
- Education Commission of the States. (1998). *Designing and implementing standards _based accountability systems*. Denver, CO: Author.
- Maryland Assessment Consortium. (1993). Glossary of assessment terms. Frederick, MD: Author.
- Piskurich, G. (Ed.). (1993). *The ASTD handbook of instructional technology* (compiled by the American Society for Training and Development). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Rubin, M. (Ed.). (1990, December). A learning assistance glossary: Report of the College of Reading and Learning Association task force on professional language for college reading and learning. Available from CRLA, PO Box 6251, Auburn, CA: CRLA.
- Walvoord, B. & McCarthy, L.P. (1990). Thinking and writing in college. Urbana, IL: National Council of Teachers of English.
- Washington Commission on Student Learning. (1997, June 4). Assessment toolkit glossary. Olympia, WA: Author.

A cknowledgement

Melodye S. Wiens is an English instructor at Spokane Community College, 1810 N. Greene Street, MS 2011, Spokane, WA 99217, <u>mwiens@scc.spokane.cc.wa.us</u> The author wishes to express her appreciation to faculty and administrators at Spokane Community College, and to the members of the Washington Developmental Education Outcomes Task Force, for their support and assistance.

VIII. Library Resources and Bibliography

The following books and monographs are available through the Instructional Support Services Office; please call Chuck Kermes at campus extension 6145 to acquire review copies:

Assessing Student Learning and Development by T. Dary Erwin. Josey-Bass Publications; 1991

Assessing General Education Outcomes for the Individual Student: Performance Assessment-as-Learning — Part I Designing and Implementing Performance Assessment Instruments by Judeen Schulte & Georgine Loacker. Alverno College; 1994

A Practitioner's Handbook for Institutional Effectiveness and Student Outcomes Assessment Implementation by James 0. Nichols. Agathon Press; 1991

The Departmental Guide and Record Book for Student Outcomes Assessment and Institutional Effectiveness by James 0. Nichols. Agathon Press; 1995

The Departmental Guide to Implementation of Student Outcomes Assessment and Institutional Effectiveness by James 0. Nichols. Agathon Press; 1991

A National Review of Scholastic Achievement in General Education: How Are We Doing and Why Should We Care? By Steven J. Osterlind. The George Washington University; 1997

Student Assessment-as-Learning at Alverno College by the Alverno College Faculty. Alverno College Institute; 1994

Reporting the Results of Assessment by Dr. William L. Hooper for North Central Association Colleges of Schools; April 1997

Assessment Techniques 1997 by the University Assessment Committee of North Dakota State University, Fargo, North Dakota; February 1997

Assessment 101 Workbook by Dr. Michael K. Smith & Dr. Jama L. Bradley. 1995

Annotated Reference Catalog of Assessment Instruments for Community Colleges 1994 by Michael K. Smith, Jama L. Bradley, Gwynetta F. Draper. Clearinghouse for Higher Education Assessment Instruments. 1994

Implementing Assessment of Student Academic Achievement to Meet Accreditation Requirements by Agathon Press and Institutional Effectiveness Associates. March 27, 1994

Opportunities for Improvement: Advice from Consultant-Evaluators on Programs to Assess Student Learning by Cecilia L. Lopez. North Central Accreditation Commission on Institutions of Higher Education. March 1996 — reprinted April 1997

BOOKS/RESOURCES AVAILABLE AT NPC LIBRARIES:

<u>Books</u>

Steinberg, Laurence D., <u>Beyond the Classroom: Why School Reform has Failed and What Parents</u> <u>Need to Do.</u> New York: Simon & Schuster, 1996 (Painted Desert Campus Library)

Microfiche (Little Colorado Campus Library)

ED 1.102:5 72/3 Educational Testing Service: Trends in Academic Progress: Achievement of U.S. students in science, 1969-70 to 1990, mathematics, 1973 to 1990, reading, 1971 to 1990. Washington, D.C.: The Center, 1991.

ED 1.310/2:340755 Dunbar, Stephen B.: On the development of a National Assessment of College Student Learning measurement policy and practice in perspective: first draft. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Educational Research and Improvement. 1991.

ED 1.310/2:335386 National Assessment of Educational Progress in brief. Washington, D.C.: National Center for Education Statistics: U.S. Department of Education. 1991.

ED 1.310/2:338720 Trends in academic progress achievement of U.S. students in science, 1969-70, mathematics, 1973 to 1990, reading 1971 to 1990. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education. 1991.

ED 1.310/2:337501 National Assessment of Educational Progress. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education. 1991.

ED 1.310/2:340751 Trends in academic progress achievement of American students in science, 1970-90, mathematics, 1973-90, reading 1971-90, and writing. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education. 1991.

ED 1.336:P 41 Understanding the performance of U.S. students on international assessments. Washington, D.C.: National center for Education Statistics. 1994.

ED 1.302:AC NAEP 1992 trends in academic progress: achievement of U.S. students in science, 1969 to 1992, mathematics, 1973 to 1992, reading, 1971. Washington, D.C.: The Center. 1994

ED 1.302:M 42/12 America's mathematics problem: raising student achievement: a synthesis of findings from NAEP's 1992 mathematics assessment. Washington, D.C.: The Center. 1994

ED 1.102:W 72 Gentile, Claudia A. Windows into the classroom: NAEP's 1992 writing portfolio study. Washington, D.C.: The Center. 1995

ED 1.102:C 43/2 Listening to children read aloud: data from NAEP's integrated reading performance record (IRPR) at grade 4. Washington, D.C.: The Center. 1995

ED 1.328/6:EX 7 Arnold, Carolyn L. Using HLM and NAEP data to explore school correlates of 1990 mathematics and geometry achievement in grades 4, 8, and 12. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education. 1995

ED 1.310/2:375172 Report in brief NAEP 1992 trends in academic progress, achievement of U.S. students in science, 1969 to 1992: Mathematics, 1973 to 1992: Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department – of Education. 1994

ED 1.310/2:378550 Listening to children read aloud data from NAEP's integrated reading performance record (IRPR) at grade 4. Washington, D.C.: The Center. 1995

ED 1.310/2:329486 Patrick, John J. Achievement of knowledge by high school students in core subjects of the social studies. Bloomington, Indiana: ERIC Clearinghouse on Social Studies/Social Science Education. 1991.

SELECTED BOOKS RELATED TO STUDENT ASSESSMENT

This does not include articles on Program or Institutional Assessment except for a few that have important implications for Student Assessment. These are not currently available at NPC but may be available through interlibrary loans.

- Aschbacher, Pamela R. <u>Issues in Innovative Assessment for Classroom Practice: Barriers and Facilitators.</u> CSE Technical Report 259. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education, (March 1993)
- Baker, Eva L.; Aschbacher, Pamela R.; Niemi, David; and Sato, Edynn <u>CRESST Performance Assessment</u> <u>Models: Assessing Content Area Explanations</u>, UCLA Center for the Study of Evaluation, (Aril 1992)
- Banta, Trudy W. <u>Making a Difference: Outcomes of a Decade of Assessment in Higher Education.</u> San Francisco: Josey-Bass, (1993).
- Banta, Trudy; Lund, Jon P.; Black, Karen E.; Oblander, Frances W. <u>Assessment in Practice: Putting Prin-</u> ciples to Work on College Campuses. San Francisco: Josey-Bass, (1996)
- Bennett, Randy Elliot and Ward, William C. <u>Construction Versus Choice in Cognitive Measurement: Issues</u> <u>in Constructed Response. Performance Testing. and Portfolio Assessment.</u> Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum, (1993)
- Berk, Ronald A. (Ed.) <u>Performance Assessment: Methods and Applications.</u> Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press, (1986)
- <u>Bibliography of Assessment Alternatives: Portfolios.</u> The Test Center, Evaluation and Assessment Program, Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory, Portland, OR, (January 1995)
- <u>Bibliography of Assessment Alternatives: Reading.</u> The Test Center, Evaluation and Assessment Program, Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory, Portland, OR, (January 1995)
- <u>Bibliography of Assessment Alternatives: Social Studies.</u> The Test Center, Evaluation and Assessment Program, Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory, Portland, OR, (April 1995)
- Black, Laurel; Daiker, Donald A.; Sommers, Jeffrey; and Stygall, Gail (Eds.) <u>NewDirections in Portfolio</u> <u>Assessment.</u> Portsmouth, NH: Boynton/Cook, (1994)

- Boud, D., & Feletti, G. (Eds.). <u>The Challenge of Problem-Based Learning</u>. 2nd <u>Edition</u>. London: Kogan Page Publishers
- Boud, D., & Feletti, G. (Eds.) The Challenge of Problem-Based Learning. New York, NY: St. Martin's Press
- Boyatzis, Richard E.; Cowen, Scott S.; and Kolb, David A. <u>Innovation in Professional Education: Steps on a</u> Journey from Teaching to Learning. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, (1995)
- Brown, Sally (Ed.) Assessment: A Changing Practice. Edinburgh: Scottish Academic Press, 1988)
- Brown, Sally and Knight, Peter. Assessing Learners in Higher Education. Philadelphia: Kogan Page, (1994)
- Burke, John (Ed.) Competency Based Education and Training. Bristol, PA: Palmer Press (1989)
- Burnstein, Leigh <u>Conceptual Considerations in Instructionally Sensitive Assessment.</u> CSE Technical Report 333. CRESST, UCLA. Report presented at AERA annual meeting, San Francisco, March 21, 1989
- Campbell Hill, Bonnie and Ruptic, Cynthia A. <u>Practical Aspects of Authentic Assessment: Putting the Pieces</u> <u>Together.</u> Norwood, MA: Christopher-Gordon Publishers, Inc., (1995)
- Chaffee, Ellen Earle; Ewell, Peter T.; et.al <u>Assessing Impact, Evidence and Action</u>. Presentations from the 1997 AAHE Conference on Assessment and Quality, Washington, D.C., (1997)
- Checkland, Peter Systems Thinking, Systems Practice. New York: John Wiley & Sons, (1981)
- Cowan, John. On Becoming an Innovative University Teacher. England: Open University Press (1998)
- Cross, K.P., and Angelo, T.A. (1988). <u>Classroom Assessment Techniques: A Handbook for Faculty.</u> Ann Arbor, MI: National Center for Research to Improve Postsecondary Teaching and Learning, University of Michigan.
- Crooks, Terrance J. <u>Assessing Student Performance</u>. Kensington, Australia: Higher Education Research and Development, (1988).
- Database and Catalog of Alternative Assessments, 2nd Edition. Regional Educational Laboratory Network Program on Science and Mathematics Alternative Assessment. U.S. Department of Education, (September 1994)
- Database and Catalog of Alternative Assessments, 3rd Edition. Regional Educational Laboratory Network Program on Science and Mathematics Alternative Assessment. U.S. Department of Education, (November 1995)
- Desforges, Charles Testing and Assessment. London: Cassell, (1989)
- Diamond, Robert M. <u>Designing and Assessing Courses and curricula.</u> A Practical Guide (Rev. Ed.), Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco, California, (1998)
- Diez, Mary (Ed.) <u>Changing the Practice of Teacher Education.</u> Standards and Assessment as a Lever for Change. AACTE Publications, Washington, D.C. (1998)

- Education for a Changing World. Green Paper on Education. Government Publications Sales Office, Sun Alliance House, Molesworth Street, Dublin 2
- Edwards, Anne and Knight, Peter (Eds.) <u>Assessing Competence in Higher Education.</u> London: Kogan Page, (1995)
- Entwistle, Noel <u>Styles of Learning and Teaching: An Integrated Outline of Educational Psychology for</u> <u>Students. Teachers and Lecturers.</u> New York: John Wiley & Sons, (1981)
- Fitzgibbon, A., Heywood, J., Cameron, L. A., and Callagan, Charlotte L. <u>Experience Versus Theory in</u> <u>Teacher Education.</u> I. The Matching of Learning Styles to Teaching during Teacher Education. II. Learning and Teaching Styles in the Classroom. Research in Teacher Education Monograph Series, No. 1/91. University of Dublin, (1991)
- Flexer, Roberta J. and Gerstner, Eileen A. <u>Dilemmas and Issues for Teachers Developing Performance</u> <u>Assessments in Mathematics: A Case Study of the Effects of Alternative Assessment in Instruc-</u> <u>tion, Student Leaming and Accountability Practices.</u> CSE Technical Report 364. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education, (October 1993)
- Forrest, Aubrey <u>Time Will Tell: Portfolio-Assisted Assessment of General Education.</u> Washington, D.C.: American Association for Higher Education, (1990)
- Gardiner, Lion F., Anderson, Caitlin, and Cambridge, Barbara L. (Eds.) Learning Through Assessment: A <u>Resource Guide for Higher Education.</u> A Publication of the AAHE Assessment Forum. American Association for Higher Education, Washington, D.C. (1997)
- Garforth, David and Macintosh, Henry. Profiling: A User's Manual. England: Stanley Thomes, (1986)
- Gearhart, Maryl, Herman, Joan L., Baker, Eva L., and Whittaker, Andrea K. <u>Whose Work Is It? A Question</u> for the Validity of Large-Scale Portfolio Assessment. CSE Technical Report 363. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education, (July 1993)
- Gearhart, Maryl, Wolf, Shelby A., Burkey, Bette, and Whittaker, Andrea K. <u>Engaging Teachers in Assess-</u> <u>ment of Their Students' Narrative Writing Impact on Teachers' Knowledge and Practice.</u> CSE Technical Report 377. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education (May 1994)
- Gibbs, Graham Assessing More Students. Oxford: Oxford Brookes University, (n.d.).
- Gipps, Caroline V. Assessment: A Teachers' Guide to the Issues. London: Hodder & Stoughton, (1990)
- Gipps, Caroline V. Beyond Testing: Towards a Theory of Educational Assessment. Bristol, PA: Palmer Press, (1994)
- Glaser, Robert and Silver, Edward <u>Assessment, Testing and Instruction: Retrospect and Prospect.</u> CSE Technical Report 379. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education, (June 1994)
- Glaser, Robert, Raghavan, Kalyani, and Baxter, Gail P. <u>Cognitive Theory as the Basis for Design of Innova-</u> <u>tive Assessment: Design Characteristics of Science Assessments.</u> CSE Technical Report 349. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education, (September 1992)

- Greenwood, Addison <u>National Assessment of College Student Learning: Getting Started.</u> National Center for Education Statistics. U.S. Depar Mient of Education, (May 1993)
- Greenwood, Addison (Ed.) <u>The National Assessment of College Student Learning: Identification of the Skills to be Taught. Learned, and Assessed.</u> A report on the proceedings of the Second Study Design Workshop, November 1992. National Center for Education Statistics. U.S. Department of Education, (August 1994)
- Habeshaw, Sue, Gibbs, Graham, and Habeshaw, Trevor <u>53 Interesting Ways to AssessYour Students.</u> 3' Edition. Bristol, U.K.: Technical and Educational Services, (1993)
- Harp, Bill <u>Handbook of Literacy Assessment and Evaluation</u>. Norwood, MA: Christopher-Gordon Publishers, Inc. (n.d.)
- Herman, Joan L. <u>Accountability and Alternative Assessment: Research and Development Issues</u>. CSE Technical Report 348. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education, (August 1992)
- Heywood, John Assessment in Higher Education. 2nd Edition. New York: John Wiley & Sons, (1989)
- Heywood, J. <u>Enterprise Learning and Its Assessment in Higher Education</u>. Report No. 20. Trinity College, University of Dublin, (April 1994)
- Learning Adaptability and Change- The Challenge for Education and Industry. London: Paul Chapman (1989)
- Heywood, J., Fitzgibbon, A., Cameron, L.A., and Carroll, Paula. <u>Experience Versus Theory in Teacher</u>
 <u>Education.</u> I. Experience versus Theory in Teacher Education. Student-Teachers as Researchers.
 II. Researching Instruction while Student Teachers. Presented at the annual conference of the Association for Teacher Education in Europe, Noordwijkerhout, the Netherlands, September 1991. Research in Teacher Education Monograph Series, No. 2/91. University of Dublin (1991)
- Heywood, J., McGuiness, S., and Murphy, D. <u>The Public Examinations Evaluation Project: The Final</u> <u>Report.</u> Trinity College, University of Dublin (1980)
- Heywood, J. and O'Connor, S. <u>Assessment in History (Twelve to Fifteen).</u> I. The Multiple Objective Examining of School Subjects with Special Reference to History. II. A Preliminary Evaluation of the Teaching of History in the Shannon Environmental Studies Experiment. Dublin: Trinity College (May 1974)
- Heywood, John, Heywood, Sarah, and Donovan, Lain I. <u>The Training of Student-Teachers in Discovery</u> <u>Methods of Instruction and Learning.</u> II. <u>Comparing Guided Discovery and Expository Methods:</u> <u>Teaching the Water Cycle in Geography.</u> Research in Teacher Education Monograph Series, No. 1/92 University of Dublin, (1992)
- Higuchi, Charlotte <u>Performance-based Assessments and What Teachers Need.</u> CSE Technical Report 362. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education, (July 1993)
- Hounsell, Dai, McCulloch, Mary and Scott, Mary (Eds.) and the ASSHE Project Team. <u>The ASSHE Inven-</u> <u>tory.</u> Changing Assessment Practices in Scottish Higher Education. Ingram House, Sheffield, (1996)

- Huot, Brian A. and Williamson, Michael M. <u>Validating Holistic Scoring for Writing Assessment: Theoretical</u> <u>and Empirical Foundations.</u> Cresskill, NJ: Hampton Press, Inc.
- Huot, Brian and Yancy, Kathleen Blake (Eds.). <u>Assessment Writing.</u> Volume 1, Numbers 1 & 2. Ablex Publishing Corporation, Greenwich, Connecticut, (1994)
- Huot, Brian and Yancy, Kathleen Blake (Eds.). <u>Assessment Writing</u>. Volume 3, Numbers 1 & 2. Ablex Publishing Corporation, Greenwich, Connecticut, (1996)
- Huot, Brian and Yancey, Kathleen Blake (Eds.) <u>Assessment Writing.</u> Volume 4, Number 1. Ablex Publishing Corporation, Greenwich, Connecticut, (1997)
- Huot, Brian and Yancey, Kathleen Blake (Eds.) <u>Assessment Writing.</u> Volume 4, Number 2, Index Issue. Ablex Publishing Corporation, Greenwich, Connecticut, (1997)
- Huot, Brian and Yancey, Kathleen Blake (Eds.). <u>Assessment Writing</u>, Volume 5, Number 1. Ablex Publishing Corporation, Greenwich, Connecticut, (1998)
- Issues of Curriculum Reform in Science, Mathematics and Higher Order Thinking Across the Disciplines. Office of Educational Research and Improvement, U.S. Department of Education, (January 1994).
- Jessup, Gilbert <u>Outcomes: NVQs and the Emerging Model of Education and Training</u>. Bristol, PA. Palmer Press, (1991)
- Jones, Elizabeth A. et. al. <u>Essential Skills in Writing, Speech and Listening, and Critical Thinking for</u> <u>College Graduates: Perspectives of Faculty. Employers. and Policymakers.</u> National Center of Postsecondary Teaching, Learning & Assessment. The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA, (December, 1994)
- Jones, Elizabeth A. et. al. National Assessment of College Student Learning: Identifying College Graduates' <u>Essential Skills in Writing, Speech and Listening, and Critical Thinking</u> Final Project Report. National Center for Education Statistics. U.S. Department of Education, (May 1995)
- Jones, Elizabeth A., et. al. <u>A Plan for Validating Criteria and Measures to Monitor Progress Toward National</u> Education Goal 5.5: Identif in • Colle • e Graduates' Essential S ills in Writin • S • eech and <u>Listening, and Critical Thinking</u>
- Jones, Elizabeth A. <u>Preparing Competent College Graduates: Setting New and Higher Expectations for</u> <u>Student Learning.</u> New Directions for Higher Education. Jossey-Bass (Winter 1996)
- Jones, Elizabeth A. <u>Writing Goals Inventory.</u> National Center on Postsecondary Teaching, Learning & Assessment. The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA, (July 1994) Knight, Peter (Ed.) <u>Assessment for Learning in Higher Education.</u> London: Kogan Page, (1995)
- Koretz, Daniel, Stecher, Brian, et. al. <u>Can Portfolios Assess Student Performance and Influence Instruction?</u> <u>The 1991-92 Vermont Experience.</u> CSE Technical Report 371. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education, (December 1993)

- Linn, Robert L. <u>Educational Assessment: Expanded Expectations and Challenges.</u> CSE Technical Report 351. CRESST, UCLA. Invited address presented at the annual meeting of the American Psychological Association, Washington, D.C., August 16, 1992. (January 1993)
- McDonnell, Lorraine M. <u>Policymakers' Views of Student Assessment.</u> CSE Technical Report 378. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education (June 1994)
- McMillan, James H. (Ed.) Assessing Students' Learning. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, (1988)
- Moses, Joseph L. and Byham, William C. (Eds.) <u>Applying the Assessment Center Method.</u> Elmsford, NY: Pergamon Press, (1977)
- Munby, Stephen, Phillips, Paul, and Collinson, Rose <u>Assessing and Recording Achievement.</u> England: Basil Blackwell, 1989)
- Murphy, Roger and Torrance, Harry. <u>The Changing Face of Educational Assessment</u>. Philadelphia: Open University Press, (1988)

National Education Goals Report. Building a Nation of Learners.

Nightingale, Peggy and O'Neil. Achieving Philadelphia: Kogan Page, (1994) i in Hi her Education.

<u>The National Education Goals Report: Building a Nation of Learners.</u> Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, (1992).

O'Neil, Jr., Harold F. and Baker, Eva L. (Eds.). <u>Technology Assessment in Software Applications.</u> Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, (1994)

O'Neil, Jr. Harold F., Allred, Keith, and Baker, Eva L. <u>Measurement of Workforce Readiness: Review of</u> <u>Theoretical Frameworks.</u> CSE Technical Report 343. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education, (June 1992)

<u>Measurement of Workforce Readiness Competencies: Design of Prototype Measures.</u> CSE Technical Report 344. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education, (June 1992)

Performance Assessment: Different Needs Difficult Answers. Trustees' Colloquy.

- Ptofoliossessr nd High Technology. The National Center for Research on Evaluation, Standards, and Student Testing (CRESST). U.S. Department of Education (n.d.) (video)
- <u>A Programme for Reform: Curriculum and Assessment Policy Towards the New Century.</u> National Council for Curriculum and Assessment, (March 1993)
- Rowntree, D. <u>Assessing Students: How Shall We Know Them?</u> London: Kogan Page Publishers; New York, NY: Nichols Publishing Company, (1987)
- Rubin, I.M.; Campbell, T.J. <u>The ABCs of Effective Feedback: A Guide for Caring Professionals.</u> San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers, (1998)

Satterly, David Assessment in Schools. 2nd Edition. New York: Basil Blackwell, (1989)

- Shavelson, Richard J., Lang, Heather, and Lewin, Bridget. <u>On Concept Maps as Potential "Authentic"</u> <u>Assessments in Science.</u> CSE Technical Report 388. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education, (August 1994)
- Spooncer, Frank. Assessment: A Guide to the Way Ahead. Hodder & Stoughton (n.d.)
- Sternberg, Robert J. and Kolligian, Jr., John (Eds.) <u>Competence Considered.</u> New Haven: Yale University Press, (1996)
- Uperaft, M. L.; Schuh, J.H. Assessment in Student Affairs. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers (1996)

White, Sheida Overview of NAEP Assessment Frameworks. National Center for Education Statistics.

- Wigdor, Alexandra K. and Green, Jr., Bert F. (Eds.) <u>Performance Assessment for the Workplace.</u> Volume I. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press, (1991)
 - —<u>Performance Assessment for the Workplace.</u> Volume II. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press, (1991)
- Wiggins, Grant P. Assessing Student Performance. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, (1991)
- Wiggins, Grant P. <u>Educative Assessment: Designing Assessments to Inform and Improve Student Perfor-</u> <u>mance.</u> San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, (1998)
- Wolf, Shelby and Gearhart, Maryl. <u>Writing What You Read: Assessment as a Learning Event.</u> CSE Technical Report 358. CRESST, UCLA Graduate School of Education, (February 1993)